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STA- OF SIGNIFICANCE 

Bolling Island is a brick, two-story, single-pile, Greek Revival 
plantation house with a wood-framed wing on each end. The east wing was 
constructed in the late eighteenth century and the rest of the dwelling 
probably was built about 1839. The most notable feature of the house is 
the two-story Greek Revival-style porch on its south or river front. 
Owned and built by the Bolling family, whose primary residence was at 
nearby Bolling Hall, Bolling Island is typical of many early-nineteenth- 
century plantation houses of the lower Piedmont region of Virginia. It 
expresses the evolutionary nature of house construction of its period. 

JUSTIFICATION OF CRITERUC 

Bolling Island is eligible for listing on the National Register of 
Historic Places under Criterion C. The dwelling illustrates the 
evolution of a small, vernacular, late-eighteenth-century residence into 
a Greek Revival-style plantation house. Less sophisticated than the 
grand mansions of Tidewater, Bolling Island is more typical of its early- 
nineteenth-century counterparts constructed along the James River above 
Richmond in the lower Piedmont. 

Bolling Island (the house) is located on top of a hill that overlooks 
Bolling Island (the island) and the James River. Throughout the 
antebellum and Civil War periods the house was associated with the 
Bolling family of Goochland County. 

The land that comprised most of the Bolling Island tract was acquired by 
the Bolling family during the eighteenth century. It probably was Thomas 
Bolling, the father of Colonel William Bolling, who may have built a 
story-and-a-half, wood-framed, hall-parlor-plan house on the Bolling 





Unlted State8 Department of the interlor 
Natlonal Park Servlce 

Natlonal Reglster of Hlstorlc Places 
Contlnuatlon Sheet 

Sectlon number 7 Page 2 

Early in the next century a one-and-a-half-story brick addition was made 
to the west to form the core of the present house. Sometime between 1813 
and 1823 a small frame addition was made to the east end of the early 
frame section. The most dramatic and significant changes occurred during 
the residence of Thomas Bolling, who was responsible for classicizing the 
house. Under his direction the house was enlarged, the plan modified, 
and the portico added. Finally, a west wing was added to the brick 
structure sometime between 1825 and 1845, thus balancing the overall 
composition. The site on which the house stands is not level; therefore, 
the west wing and central core are only slightly above grade, while the 
east wing rests on a high basement. 

The central hipped-roof two-story brick core originated as a one-and-a- 
half-story central hall addition that was enlarged by Thomas Bolling. It 
was during his tenure that the house was increased to two stories, the 
stair hall addition was made to the north and the earlier stair in the 
central hall was removed (changing the interior configuration to a T 
plan), Greek Revival detailing was added, and the portico was built on 
the river side. 

The brick of the early one-and-a-half story central section is laid in 
Flemish bond, whereas the walls above this level are laid in American 
bond. Though no longer remaining, stucco dating from the time of 
remodeling covered the brick until it was removed due to deterioration. 
Evidence of an oxide wash that predates the stucco is still in evidence. 
The roof is covered with slate, and exterior brick chimneys are located 
at the east and west ends. The wood cornice is simple. 

The pattern of fenestration on the south elevation was changed when the 
house was remodeled to an arrangement of two center doors flanked on 
either side by a single triple-hung window on the first floor, and a 
central door flanked on either side by a window on the second floor. 
Both first-floor doors are of wood with six panels and have exterior wood 
lattice screen doors. The first-floor windows on the two principal 
elevations, the north and south, are triple-hung six-over-six-over-six. 
The first-floor windows on the east and west elevations, as well as the 
second-floor windows, are six-over-six double-hung. All windows are 
equipped with louvered shutters. Doors and windows are detailed with 
flat lintels with square corner blocks. 

The hipped roof extends to cover the south portico, which shelters the 
full width of this section. The focal point of this elevation, the 
portico is supported by four paneled square columns embellished with 
simple molded caps; a Chippendale-inspired railing ornaments the second 
level. A similar balustrade would have detailed the flat top of the 
roof. Measuring forty by twelve feet, the portico was last rebuilt in 
1897 and the columns were rehabilitated in 1980. 
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The addition to the north side of the house of the single-bay hipped-roof 
projection of brick laid in American bond created a T plan and a formal 
entrance and stair hall. The one bay entrance porch is a recent 
reconstruction of the original. Four tapered and paneled columns support 
the porch roof and similarly detailed pilasters are positioned on either 
side of the entrance. A railing of turned balusters runs between the 
columns. The six-paneled door resembles those on the south elevation and 
is flanked by four-pane sidelights matching the second-floor door on the 
south elevation. A second-floor double-hung window with identical 
sidelights is located directly above this entrance. 

Extending from the east is the one-story wing, which was constructed in 
two sections. The earliest portion has on its east end an exterior end 
chimney that is now encased by the last addition to this wing. The early 
section is sided with beaded board and has a simple cornice of crown 
molding. Though originally covered with a hipped roof, the roof of this 
section was altered to tie into the early-nineteenth-century addition to 
the east end, which has a hipped roof. This final end addition to the 
east wing is 18' x 18' and rests on a brick basement that is almost fully 
exposed. The basement level contains a windowed orangerie, wine room, 
and storage room; the floor above was devoted to a breakfast room. 

The south elevation of the east wing has a single six-over-six double- 
hung window at the west end that may originally have been a door. The 
original eighteenth-century portion rests on a brick pier foundation and 
has a central door flanked by six-over-nine double-hung windows. The 
entrance of this section lacks the front stairs it would have had 
originally. The end section has a single eight-over-twelve double-hung 
window above with three ten-over-ten-over-ten triple-hung windows below 
that illuminate the orangerie. The east end elevation of this wing has a 
triple-hung orangerie window and a door on the basement level and a nine- 
over-twelve double-hung window above. The fenestration on the north 
elevation of the east wing is consistent with that on the south. The end 
section has a casement basement window with a window above; the 
eighteenth-century portion has a basement door and a casement window with 
three windows above. 

The west wing was the last addition to the house and dates to about 1839. 
Its overall dimensions are 28' x 20' and originally consisted of a 
bedroom, side hall, and small dressing room. The siding on this wing is 
plain with no beading, the roof is hipped and covered with slate, and the 
foundation is brick. An interior central end chimney is faced with 
plaster molded to imitate weatherboards. The west and north elevations 
each have a door with transom and a single window, and the south 
elevation has two windows. This wing now contains a modern kitchen, 
bathroom, and bedroom. 
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The interior of the house was substantially reworked at the time that the 
house was enlarged and the plan changed. The central hall was removed as 
was the stair it contained and the walls were moved to create two 
adjoining rooms separated by pocket doors. The north addition created a 
20' x 20' entrance hall in which is located a curved corner stair to the 
second floor. The stair turns ninety degrees and leads to an upstairs 
sitting room. The stair newel and railing are plain and there is wood 
paneling beneath the stair. The woodwork and mantels throughout this 
section are simply detailed and typical of the Greek Revival style. Door 
and window surrounds consist of architrave molding; the window surrounds 
also have corner blocks. Plaster ceiling medallions are found in the two 
principal downstairs rooms. This plasterwork was restored and 
embellished with acanthus leaves and anthemions in 1976. Two built-in 
cupboards are located in the west principal room, now the dining room. 
The cupboard in the northeast corner has shelves with a recessed, carved 
shell above. The cupboard in the southwest corner has shelves and glass 
doors. A door to the left of the mantel in this room leads to the 
current kitchen in the west wing. 

A door in the east wall of the east drawing room leads to a hall that 
connects the brick portion with the eighteenth-century frame wing. This 
hall area has been partially enclosed to accommodate a bathroom. Since 
the earliest portion of the house once functioned as the dining room with 
a breakfast room at the far end, and it is likely that this hall 
functioned as a pantry. The original dining room retains its late- 
eighteenth-century woodwork and mantel and today functions as a bedroom. 
It contains the only picture molding and chair rails in the house. The 
breakfast room to the east is now used as a study, the walls of which are 
covered in cypress. The fireplace in this room does not have a mantel. 

The second floor has a stair hall in which two baths have been added in 
the north section and a central hall with flanking bedrooms in the main 
block of the house. Each bedroom contains a simple wood mantel; the 
fireplace in the east bedroom has an ornamental metal insert. A stair 
located in the attic provides access to the flat portion of the roof. 

Three historic dependencies are located on the north side of the house. 
These include a board-and-batten smokehouse that was built about 1845. 
This gable-fronted structure faces the house and has a louvered vent 
above the entrance. An office building with detailing identical to that 
of the west wing dates from about 1839. It is a square weatherboarded 
building with a hipped roof covered with asphalt shingles. This 
structure currently lacks its box cornice and has exposed rafter ends. 
Its entrance faces the house and has an eight-light transom. The windows 
are six-over-nine, double-hung. The brick kitchen is located to the 
northeast and faces west. It is covered by a slate, hipped roof pierced 
by two interior chimneys. Built into the side of a slope, the rear has a 
fully exposed basement level to the east. A frame addition on a masonry 
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basement was added to the south, nearly doubling the kitchen's original 
dimensions. 

No longer extant is an assortment of agricultural buildings, an ice 
house, a log slave cabin, privies, a row of field slave cabins, and a 
horse stable. Although their sites are known generally, there are no 
above-ground remains to provide exact locations. A frame, weatherboarded 
pumphouse with a pyramidal roof is located in close proximity to the 
north side of the west wing. Because it dates from 1968, the pumphouse 
is considered noncontributing, as is a recently erected storage building 
located nearby. 

To the southwest of the house is a garden and orchard, both dating from 
this century but occupying the location of earlier gardens. Delineated 
by boxwood, the garden consists of an arrangement of brick walks and beds 
inspired by the garden of the Coke-Garrett House in Williamsburg. A 
pergola supported by salvaged historic columns is positioned at the west 
end of the garden and dates from 1989. The historic boxwood that once 
lined the garden was sold to the Colonial Williamsburg Foundation by a 
previous owner. 

Julie L. Vosmik 
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Island property about 1771. If he did, then this small dwelling has 
since become the east wing of the present-day Bolling Island house. 

Colonel William Bolling, of Bolling Hall in Goochland County, inherited 
the Boiling Island property and house upon his father's death in 1804. 
It became one of several farms owned by Bolling, and the house was used 
as the overseer's residence. Bolling insured a barn and threshing 
machine at Bolling Island for $990 in 1815; the house was not insured. 
In 1820 the buildings on the property were valued at $700 in the land tax 
book. 

About 1820 Bollingls son-in-law Joseph K. Weisiger and his wife, Anne 
Mead Bolling, moved into the house and lived there until they immigrated 
to Albemarle County in 1828. Soon thereafter, Thomas Bolling, a son of 
William Bolling, took up residence in the house with his wife, Mary 
Louisa Morris. In 1836 William Bolling deeded the property to Thomas 
Bolling. 

In 1840 the value of the buildings at Bolling Island rose to $2,000 from 
$700 the previous year. Part of the increase is explained by the general 
reassessment of land taxes that occurred in 1839-1840, but some of it may 
be accounted for by new construction, although there are no marginal 
notes in the tax book to this effect. 

Thomas Bolling moved from Bolling Island to Bolling Hall following the 
death of his father in 1845. Reportedly he left his wife and children in 
residence at Bolling Island. There is no doubt that Bolling Hall was the 
grander of the two plantations: in the late 1840s, when the buildings at 
Bolling Island were valued for taxes at $2,000, those at Bolling Hall 
were valued at $7,000. 

The Bolling Island tract was sold off in pieces by the children of Thomas 
Bolling to Allen Y. Stokes, a Richmond merchant, beginning in 1870. By 
1882 Stokes owned the entire tract. He did not live there himself, but 
installed his nephew George Stokes on the property. The younger Stokes 
operated a post office there as well as a Chesapeake and Ohio Railroad 
station (no longer standing) that was constructed down the hill from the 
house. 

The property remained in the Stokes family until 1942, when it was sold 
to a Dutch family, the Verloops. Richard T. Couture purchased it in 1962 
and is the current owner. 

John S. Salmon/Richard T. Couture 
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